RECEIVED

Jul 28 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Court of General Sessions

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

VINCENT SHIVERS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000425

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jason T. Yonge (SC Bar No. 102869)
Benjamin A. Stitely (SC Bar No. 75339)
Anna W. Yonge (SC Bar No. 102407)
Williams, Stitely & Brink, PC
200 E. Main St.
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 359-9000
jyonge@wsblegal.com
bstitely@wsblegal.com
ayonge@wsblegal.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Trial Court err by denying Shivers' motion to suppress evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale entered Shivers' fenced backyard without a warrant or an objectively reasonable basis for believing someone inside the home required emergency assistance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from Appellant Vincent Shivers' convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1484-1485). Shivers was arrested on September 5, 2019. (R. pp. 224-225). On March 21, 2022, the State called this case for trial. (R. p. 14, lines 1-12). Shivers made two pretrial motions to suppress evidence. (R. pp. 1531-1566). The first motion was to suppress evidence obtained from the search of his residence and the vehicle found at his home, which the trial court denied. (R. pp. 19-123, 349-351). The second motion was to suppress statements made to Canadian law enforcement, which the trial court also denied. (R. pp. 136-351).

Following a jury trial, Shivers was convicted of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1484-1485). He was sentenced to seventy-five years and five years respectively, to be served concurrently. (R. p. 1506, lines 1-5). Thereafter, Shivers timely served and filed a notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 3, 2019, at approximately 11:07 a.m., Lexington County Sheriff's Department Deputy Joshua Hale received a call for service requesting a welfare check on Vincent Shivers. (R. pp. 64-65). The welfare check was requested by Mr. Smith, the general manager of the Camping World location where Shivers was employed as a finance manager. (R. p. 21, lines 13-15; R. pp. 65-68).

After he received the call for service, Deputy Hale spoke with Mr. Smith on the phone. (R. pp. 91-92, lines 24-1). Based on that conversation, Deputy Hale knew the following information when he arrived at Shivers' home for the welfare check:

- a. Shivers lived at the home with his girlfriend, Roselyn Cedeno. (R. p. 67, lines 1-8).
- b. Mr. Smith believed that Ms. Cedeno did not have a job. (R. p. 67, lines 6-9).
- c. Shivers did not show up for work on Monday, September 2, 2019. (R. p. 67, lines 18-21).
- d. Shivers also had not shown up for work that morning, Tuesday, September 3, 2019. (R. p. 67, lines 18-21).
- e. It was unusual for Shivers to miss work. (R. p. 68, lines 1-11).
- f. Mr. Smith had attempted to contact Shivers by telephone and text message. (R. p. 67, lines 9-17).
- g. Mr. Smith had already sent another employee to Shivers' home, but that employee did not have contact with anyone. (R. p. 92, lines 1-10).

Deputy Hale arrived at Shivers' home at 11:31 a.m. (R. p. 69, lines 17-20). He walked down the driveway to the front door. (R. p. 69-70). There was a blue Honda Accord in the driveway. (R. p. 68, lines 20-22). When he knocked on the door and rang the doorbell, no one

answered. (R. p. 70, lines 4-12). However, he could hear a dog barking and moving around inside the house near the front door. (R. p. 70, lines 4-23).

After he did not receive a response at the front door, Deputy Hale went to the mailbox to see if there were any deliveries. (R. pp. 69-71). He found “the usual mail such as bills in envelopes” and a package addressed to Roselyn Cedeno, which listed her phone number. (R. p. 71, lines 5-18). Deputy Hale attempted to call the phone number listed on the package multiple times, but there was no answer. (R. p. 71, lines 16-18). Deputy Hale also called Mr. Smith again and determined that Shivers typically drove a Ford F-150 pickup truck. (R. p. 92-93).

Deputy Hale returned to the front of the home and knocked on the front door and garage while announcing himself as a deputy with the sheriff’s department. (R. p. 72, lines 3-12). He did not see Shivers’ vehicle in the driveway or the garage, (R. p. 93, lines 13-20), nor did he have any indication that someone was inside the home, (R. p. 74-75, lines 23-1).

Deputy Hale then returned to his patrol car and checked social media to see if either Shivers or Roselynn Cedeno had accounts. (R. p. 72, lines 13-21). However, he was not able to find any such accounts. (R. p. 72, lines 13-21). He also ran the license plate on the blue Honda Accord in the driveway, which came back to Roselynn Cedeno. (R. p. 73, lines 3-11).

After checking social media and running the license plate, Deputy Hale again walked back down the driveway to the house. (R. p. 72-73). When he approached the blue Honda Accord, he touched the hood of the car to get an indication if it had been recently driven. (R. pp. 73-74, lines 22-1). Because the hood was a “neutral heat,” he determined the vehicle likely had not been driven recently. (R. p. 74, lines 1-5).

At 11:57 a.m., about 26 minutes after he first arrived at Shivers’ home, Deputy Hale decided to check the backyard. (R. pp. 100-101). The backyard was not visible from the front of

the home because it was enclosed by a wooden privacy fence, which was five to six feet tall. (R. pp. 99-100). Deputy Hale could not see anything by looking over or through the fence, (R. p. 99-100), and the gates were shut, (R. p. 98, lines 7-17).

Deputy Hale opened the fence gate and entered the backyard. (R. p. 97-98). He did not see any vehicles or people in the backyard, but he continued to search the area. (R. pp. 75-76, lines 22-2). The back of the home had a ground floor and a large deck that went up to the second floor. (R. pp. 76-77).

When he approached the bottom floor of the home, he observed a room with lights on. (R. p. 76, lines 3-6). Looking through the window, Deputy Hale saw a loose dog in the room and “a cell phone on the vanity where a lot of make-up was placed.” (R. p. 76, lines 10-14). However, he did not see anyone inside the room. (R. p. 76, lines 7-9).

After seeing no one in the backyard or bottom floor of the home, Deputy Hale walked up the deck stairs to the second floor. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). When he got to the second floor, he walked through an open gate onto the top patio. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). The top patio led straight to a bedroom. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). In plain view, through the bedroom window, Deputy Hale saw “what appeared to be a deceased person that was covered in bedsheets.” (R. p. 77, lines 1-9).

Upon seeing the body on the floor, Deputy Hale knocked on the window, shined his flashlight through the window, and announced himself as a sheriff’s deputy. (R. p. 78, lines 1-4). When he did not receive a response, he entered the bedroom through an unlocked door. (R. p. 78).

Deputy Hale walked toward the body, announced himself as a sheriff’s deputy again, and tapped the body to ensure the person was not alive and in need of medical care. (R. p. 79, lines 1-12). He then looked under the sheet and determined that it was a female. (R. p. 79, lines 13-18).

He also saw “several empty shell casings from a pistol on the left side of the body.” (R. p. 78, lines 13-15).

After calling for backup, Deputy Hale performed a protective sweep of the home. (R. p. 82, lines 2-17). Once backup and first responders arrived, and the scene was secured, a search warrant for the home was obtained. (R. pp. 1016-1017).

Officers also entered Shivers and his Ford F-150 into NCIC as missing, (R. p. 1030, lines 15-20), obtained a search warrant for his cell phone, (R. p. 563, lines 12-22), and obtained his American Express records, (R. p. 564, lines 14-20). Through those sources, officers determined that Shivers had crossed into Canada in his Ford F-150, (R. pp. 566-569), and purchased an airline ticket to London, (R. pp. 574-575). Based on that information and the evidence collected from the home, officers obtained an arrest warrant for Shivers. (R. pp. 575-576, lines 13-1).

Shivers was subsequently detained by Canadian authorities at the Pearson International Airport in Toronto, Canada, on a Canadian “immigration warrant.” (R. pp. 917-923). While he was being transported from the airport to the transport vehicle, Shivers made two statements to Canadian authorities. First, Shivers provided the location of his F-150 in the parking garage. (R. p. 926, lines 9-19). Second, Shivers told the Canadian authorities that there were two guns in the truck and he was “going to eat one in Niagara falls for what [he’d] done.” (R. p. 929, lines 15-20).

Suppression Hearing

Shivers made two pretrial suppression motions. First, Shivers made a motion to suppress all evidence seized from the search of his home. (R. 19-123, 1531-1548). Shivers’ counsel argued that the evidence should be suppressed because Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of a welfare check by entering the backyard through a closed fence gate. (R. pp. 108-109, 116-119,

122-123). His counsel also argued that law enforcement exceeded the scope of the search warrant by conducting an unreasonably long six-day search of Shivers' residence. (R. pp. 108-109, 116-119, 122-123).

Second, Shivers made a motion to suppress the statements he made to Canadian authorities. (R. pp. 136-304, 1549-1566). Shivers' counsel argued that Shivers should have been read his Miranda Rights when he was detained by Canadian authorities, because authorities from the United States and Canada were engaged in a joint venture when Shivers was detained. (R. pp. 301-304, 339-347).

The Trial Court ultimately denied both suppression motions. (R. pp. 349-351). Regarding the evidence seized from Shivers' home, the Trial Court found that "the officer in this case was operating under the community caretaking doctrine. . . . I think . . . when you go to check on somebody, you're going to walk around their house." (R. pp. 350-351). The court further clarified that "I'm going to find that entry. And it's a warrantless entry. It's under the exigency exception allowable." (R. pp. 351, lines 13-15). Regarding Shivers' statements to Canadian authorities, the Trial Court found that Shivers was in custody when the statements were made, but there was no joint venture between the United States and Canada and Shivers made the statements voluntarily. (R. pp. 349-350).

Trial

The evidence gathered from the search of Shivers home and his subsequent statements to Canadian authorities were admitted into evidence at trial. (R. pp. 926-929, 1507-1524).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[A]ppellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This dual inquiry means [the appellate court] reviews[s] the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion . . . is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred by denying Shivers' motion to suppress evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale entered Shivers' fenced backyard without a warrant or an objectively reasonable basis for believing someone inside the home required emergency assistance.

Vincent Shivers' convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime were based entirely on evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale opened the fence gate and entered Shivers' backyard. Therefore, if this Court determines that the trial court erred in denying Shivers' motion to suppress evidence seized from inside his home, both convictions should be reversed.

When Deputy Hale walked onto Shivers' front porch and knocked on the front door, he physically entered the curtilage of Shivers' home. See State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 724 (2017) (“The curtilage of a home is ‘the land immediately surrounding and associated with the home’”); Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 8 (2013) (“The front porch is the classic exemplar of an area adjacent to the home and to which the ‘activity of the home life extends.’”).

Because Shivers' backyard was adjacent to the home and surrounded by a privacy fence, it was also part of the curtilage of his home. See United States v. Dunn, 480 U.S. 294, 301 (1987) (“[C]urtilage questions should be resolved with particular reference to four factors: the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home, whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home, the nature of the uses to which the area is put, and the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by.”).

“The curtilage of a home is . . . ‘part of the home itself for Fourth Amendment purposes.’” Bash, 419 S.C. at 268, 797 S.E.2d at 724 (quoting Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1984)). The Fourth Amendment provides that the “right of the people to be secure in

their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The essence of the Fourth Amendment is to protect a person’s right to be free from unreasonable government intrusions in his or her own home. See Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 31 (2001).

“When the Government obtains information by physically intruding [a home], a search within the original meaning of the Fourth Amendment has undoubtedly occurred.” Jardines, 569 U.S. at 5. Searches conducted without a warrant “are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.” Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967).

Here, Deputy Hale approached Shivers’ home to perform a welfare check. Shivers did not give Deputy Hale permission to be there, and Deputy Hale did not have a search warrant. As such, the scope of Deputy Hale’s search was explicitly limited to those areas of Shivers’ home where a private citizen would have an implicit license to go, unless an exception to the warrant requirement applied. Jardines, 569 U.S. at 7 (“[A]n officer’s leave to gather information is sharply circumscribed when he steps off [public] thoroughfares and enters the Fourth Amendment’s protected areas.”); Id., 569 U.S. at 8 (“Thus, a police officer not armed with a warrant may approach a home and knock, precisely because that is no more than any private citizen might do.”) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Although Deputy Hale certainly had an implicit license to conduct a welfare check by knocking on the front door and looking around the front of Shivers’ home for signs that someone was inside, he exceeded the scope of that implicit license by opening the fence gate and entering the backyard. Furthermore, the emergency aid exception to the warrant requirement did not apply when Deputy Hale entered Shivers’ backyard, because Deputy Hale had no indication that

anyone was even inside the home, let alone in need of emergency assistance. Therefore, Deputy Hale's warrantless search of Shivers' backyard was unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment, and all evidence seized following that search should have been suppressed at trial.

I. Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of his implied license to perform a welfare check at Shivers' home when he entered the backyard through a closed privacy fence gate after a 26-minute investigation at the front of the home indicated that no one was inside.

When Deputy Hale walked down the driveway to the area immediately surrounding Shivers' home, he physically entered a constitutionally protected area. Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8. Because he did not have a warrant, or reason to believe a crime had been committed, it was only proper for Deputy Hale to enter that area if society recognized an implied license to do so. Id. (“A license may be implied from the habits of the country.”) (quoting McKee v. Gratz, 260 U.S. 127, 136 (1922) (Holmes, J.)). “The scope of a license—express or implied—is limited not only to a particular area but also to a specific purpose.” Id. at 9. Thus, the scope of Deputy Hale's implied license to investigate the curtilage of Shivers' home must be determined by both the purpose of his visit and the specific areas of Shivers' home that were searched.

The purpose of Deputy Hale's visit to Shivers' home was to perform a welfare check. A “welfare check’ is conducted by law enforcement based upon concern for a person's welfare, not to inquire about illegal activity at the residence.” State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59, n.7 (2015). However, officers do not have carte blanche to search all areas of a home simply because a welfare check is not a criminal investigative technique. See id. Rather, “[i]n the instance of a ‘welfare check,’ the implicit license to approach a home as referenced in Florida v. Jardines . . . is applicable.” Id.

Deputy Hale performed the welfare check by searching two areas of Shivers' home: the front of the home (including the front porch and garage areas) and the backyard (including the back porch).

Deputy Hale had an implied license, under the Fourth Amendment, to knock on Shivers' front door to perform a welfare check. The Supreme Court of the United States has "recognized that the knocker on the front door is treated as an invitation or license to attempt an entry, justifying ingress to the home by solicitors, hawkers and peddlers of all kinds." Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8 (internal quotation marks omitted). "This implicit license typically permits the visitor to approach the home by the front path, knock promptly, wait briefly to be received, and then (absent invitation to linger longer) leave." Id. Based on this rationale, an officer "not armed with a warrant may approach a home and knock, precisely because that is 'no more than any private citizen might do.'" Id. (quoting Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 470 (2011)); but see Counts, 413 S.C. at 174, 776 S.E.2d at 71 (holding that the South Carolina Constitution's heightened privacy protections require officers to have "reasonable suspicion of illegal activity before approaching the targeted residence and conducting a 'knock and talk.'").

After he arrived at Shivers' home, Deputy Hale knocked on the front door and rang the doorbell. Although he could hear a dog barking inside, no one answered. He then attempted to call Shivers and Roselyn Cedeno's phones, without a response; determined that Cedeno's car in the driveway had not been recently driven based on the "neutral heat" from the hood; knocked on front door again; knocked on the garage while announcing himself as a deputy sheriff; and established that Shivers' truck was not in the driveway or garage.

After Deputy Hale spent 26 minutes in front of the home, without any indication someone was inside, the welfare check should have ended. Instead, he opened the fence gate on the side of Shivers' home and entered the backyard.

Unlike a “knocker on the front door,” the gate on a five or six-foot-tall wooden privacy fence is not “an invitation or license to attempt an entry.” Quite the opposite. It is a clear indication that the homeowner does not want people to enter the backyard. A homeowner does not have an obligation to open the front door when someone knocks, regardless of “whether the person who knocks . . . is a police officer or a private citizen.” King, 563 U.S. at 469-70. In fact, at “[t]he ‘very core’ of [the Fourth Amendment] is ‘the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable government intrusion.’” Caniglia v. Strom, 141 S.Ct. 1596, 1599 (2021) (quoting Jardines, 569 U.S. at 6). This right to be left alone inside your home would be meaningless if everyone from Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters to neighbors and the police had an implied license to invade your fenced backyard if you did not answer the front door. See Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8 (““Complying with the terms of that traditional invitation [to approach the front door] does not require fine-grained legal knowledge; it is generally managed without incident by the Nation’s Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters.”).

Because he entered the fenced backyard, Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of his implied license to perform a welfare check at Shivers' home. Therefore, unless an exception to the warrant requirement applied at the moment Deputy Hale opened the fence gate, Deputy Hale's search of Shivers' backyard violated the Fourth Amendment, and all evidence seized as a result should have been suppressed.

II. The emergency aid exception to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement did not apply when Deputy Hale entered Shivers’ backyard.

In denying Shivers’ motion to suppress, the Trial Court found that Deputy Hale “was operating under the Community Caretaking Doctrine,” (R. p. 350, lines 23-25), and that the search of Shivers’ home was allowable “under the exigency exception,” (R. p. 351, lines 13-15).

Community Caretaking Doctrine v. Emergency Aid Exception

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