RECEIVED

Aug 15 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000425

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

VINCENT THOMAS SHIVERS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, 3rd Floor
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

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

R. 80, lines 1-16; Court’s Ex. 15. Finally, he unlocked the deadbolt on the front door, so that EMS and other officers could enter the house. **R. 82-84; 77-87;** Court’s Ex. 15.

The State argued that Deputy Hale was operating under the community caretaking doctrine when he initially made the welfare check and that he only entered Shivers’ residence after an exigent circumstance was presented, specifically, when he looked through the window and saw the body. **R. 105-106.** The State argued that:

This is exigent circumstances and a clear manifestation of exigent circumstances because he knows that there are two individuals who reside there or who are believed to reside there. He sees one person in immediate need of assistance and believes there may be a second person inside the residence as well as a potentially a suspect once he's inside. He sees shell casings. He briefly exits. He calls for backup. He's aware EMS is also on the way and it is very, very brief and he then reenters with gun drawn.

R. 106, line15 – 107, line 1.

Shivers' counsel argued that Deputy Hale "went outside the scope of a welfare check by entering the backyard and going into that area of the curtilage of the house." **R. 108, lines 16-20.** Counsel observed that the United States Supreme Court had made clear in *Caniglia v. Strom*, 141 S.Ct. 1596 (2021), that it had never applied the community caretaking doctrine to justify warrantless entries into a person's residence, it had stressed the difference between vehicles and homes, and it "specifically declined to expand it to permit [warrantless] entry into homes." Here, Deputy Hale "entered the curtilage" that was "barriered off" and "a private area." Counsel claimed that it was "legally the same as entering the home itself." **R. 118, line 1 -25.**

Counsel further argued that the emergency aid doctrine did not apply. While Shiver's "boss was concerned about him," Shivers was "a 50-year old man who didn't show up to work for approximately 26 hours" and did not answer his phone. Also, there had been a discussion about him taking off work on Monday because he had worked on Sunday. Although no one answered the door, his F-150 was not in the driveway. "... [I]n this day [and] age, people are pretty much tied to their cars. ...[H]is truck wasn't home. It was unlikely that he was home without his truck being there." So, Deputy Hale "went outside the scope of the welfare check." **R. 119, lines 1-16.**²¹

In reply, the State noted that Justice Kavanaugh's concurring opinion in *Caniglia* posited a hypothetical that supported Deputy Hale's actions in this case. Also, the State was not relying on the community caretaking doctrine to justify entry into Shivers' home. Rather, he was at the front of the house for roughly twenty-five minutes and did not receive any response despite

²¹ Shivers also argued a motion to suppress evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant because of the length of the search (*see, e.g., R. 108-117; 122-123*), but he has not argued that issue as a basis for relief on appeal.

knocking on the door and ringing the doorbell, or to his phone calls. Deputy Hale was likewise aware that Shivers had not been to work for two days, which was very unusual, and that Mr. Smith had not been able to contact either Shivers or Roselynn. *R. 119, line 20 – 120, line 24.*

So, Deputy Hale went into the backyard “just to see if there’s anything back there that would shed more light on the wellness of Mr. Shivers.” Then, when he saw what appeared to be a body, he finally entered the residence. So, entry into the residence was justified under the exigent circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment. Moreover, there was no search without a warrant. Instead, he only checked on the status of the person whom he saw and made sure that there was neither another person who needed aid nor a suspect in the residence. *R. 120, line 25 – 121, line 14.*

Counsel responded by arguing that Deputy Hale would not have seen the exigent circumstance if he had not exceeded the scope of the welfare check by going into the backyard. *R. 122, lines 7-16.*

The trial judge denied Shivers’ motion to suppress before opening statements. She found that Deputy Hale “was operating under the Community Caretaking Doctrine.” She further found that:

I don't find anything about him looking into the window [was improper]. I think that's part of his normal every day when you go to go check on somebody, you're going to walk around their house. They don't report. Somebody called. I think there was testimony there was three people. I think one worker went twice, somebody else went once looking for him.

They were concerned. They called the officer. He goes. And then I think when he sees the body, he does not know whether this person is deceased, needs help or not. And on top of that, there's somebody else that lives in that house also. So he goes in. I'm going to find that entry. And it's a warrantless entry. It's under the exigency exception allowable.

On top of that, I even watched his body cam. He goes in, he doesn't touch anything. He's not looking for anything. It's obvious that he's trying to secure the

scene. And then he goes outside, calls and gets a warrant. I think I'm going to allow it.

R. 350, line 23 – 351, line 21. The trial judge later made clear that this had been a final ruling and that all evidence found in Shivers' residence was subject to the defense's objection to the search of his residence. *R. 1210, lines 7-17.*

B. Discussion.

The Fourth Amendment provides, in part, that “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “[E]xcept in certain carefully defined classes of cases, a search of private property without proper consent is ‘unreasonable’ unless it has been authorized by a valid search warrant.” *Camara v. Municipal Court*, 387 U.S. 523, 528-29 (1967). Yet, “because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is ‘reasonableness,’ the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions.” *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006). *See also State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009) (citing *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967)); *Frasier*, 437 S.C. at 638, 879 S.E.2d at 769 (“Warrantless searches are generally considered per se unreasonable unless they fall within a recognized exception under the Fourth Amendment”). “‘[T]he exigencies of the situation’ [may] make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.” *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 393-394 (1978). “Exigencies” exist when an officer would reasonably suspect that the conditions create a need to act “now or never” to protect an important public interest. *Roaden v. Kentucky*, 413 U.S. 496, 505 (1973).

The United States Supreme Court has “generally applied the exigent-circumstances exception on a ‘case-by-case basis.’ The exception ‘requires a court to examine whether an

emergency justified a warrantless search in each particular case. Or put more curtly, the exception is ‘case-specific.’ ” *Lange v. California*, 141 S.Ct. 2011, 2018 (2021) (citations omitted). Further, “whether an officer has ‘no time to secure a warrant’—depends upon facts on the ground. So the issue, we have thought, is most naturally considered by ‘look[ing] to the totality of circumstances’ confronting the officer as he decides to make a warrantless entry.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

Brigham City identified one such exigency: “the need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury.” 547 U.S., at 403, 126 S.Ct. 1943. Thus, law enforcement officers “may enter a home without a warrant to render emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect an occupant from imminent injury.” *Ibid.* This “emergency aid exception” does not depend on the officers’ subjective intent or the seriousness of any crime they are investigating when the emergency arises. *Id.*, at 404–405, 126 S.Ct. 1943. It requires only “an objectively reasonable basis for believing,” *id.*, at 406, 126 S.Ct. 1943, that “a person within [the house] is in need of immediate aid,” *Mincey, supra*, at 392

Brigham City illustrates the application of this standard. There, police officers responded to a noise complaint in the early hours of the morning. “As they approached the house, they could hear from within an altercation occurring, some kind of fight.” 547 U.S., at 406, 126 S.Ct. 1943 (internal quotation marks omitted). Following the tumult to the back of the house whence it came, the officers saw juveniles drinking beer in the backyard and a fight unfolding in the kitchen. They watched through the window as a juvenile broke free from the adults restraining him and punched another adult in the face, who recoiled to the sink, spitting blood. *Ibid.* Under these circumstances, we found it “plainly reasonable” for the officers to enter the house and quell the violence, for they had “an objectively reasonable basis for believing both that the injured adult might need help and that the violence in the kitchen was just beginning.” *Ibid.*

Michigan v. Fisher, 558 U.S. 45, 47-8 (2009) (*per curiam*). See also *Herring*, 387 S.C. at 494, 692 S.E.2d at 210 (same) (citing *Brigham City*); *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 392 (“The need to protect or preserve life or avoid serious injury is justification for what would be otherwise illegal absent an exigency or emergency”).²²

²² The emergency aid exception is mentioned in footnote 8 of Justice Few’s concurring opinion in the Supreme Court of South Carolina’s 2020 decision in *State v. Key*. See 431 S.C. 336, 353 n.

The Court in *Fisher* reached the same result, rejecting the defendant’s claim that officers violated the Fourth Amendment by entering his residence without a warrant. The Court held that “[a] straightforward application of the emergency aid exception, as in *Brigham City*, dictate[d] that the officer's entry was reasonable.” *Id.* at 48. Like the officers in *Brigham City*, the police officers “were responding to a report of a disturbance” and, “when they arrived on the scene they encountered a tumultuous situation in the house.” Likewise, they “found signs of a recent injury, perhaps from a car accident, outside;” they could see ““violent behavior inside;” and they saw “Fisher screaming and throwing things.” *Id.*²³

“[L]ocal police have multiple responsibilities, only one of which is the enforcement of criminal law.” Livingston, “Police, Community Caretaking, and the Fourth Amendment,” 1998 U. Chi. Leg. Forum 261, 261 (1998). Because the Supreme Court in *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433 (1973), had described searches and seizures for non-law-enforcement purposes as “community caretaking functions” that are “totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute,” *id.* at 441, many state and

8, 848 S.E.2d 315, 323 n. 8 (2020).

²³ As the District Court observed in *Gonzalez v. Scaletta*, 2021 WL 4192065, at *12 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 15, 2021):

The emergency aid doctrine reflects the realities of day-to-day, boots-on-the-ground police work. Police do more than investigate crimes. Members of the community call the police for all sorts of needs, and crime prevention and investigation is only part of their job. Sometimes, for example, there is a call for help when there is no crime. For that reason, ‘courts from the United States Supreme Court on down have long recognized the important role that police play in safeguarding individuals from dangers posed to themselves and others – a role that will, in appropriate circumstances, permit searches and seizures made without the judicial sanction of a warrant.’ ”

(quoting *Sutterfield v. City of Milwaukee*, 751 F.3d 542, 551 (7th Cir. 2014)).

lower federal courts subsequently relied on a community caretaking rule as creating an exception to the warrant requirement. In *Caniglia*, the Court held that community caretaking doctrine, standing alone, did not create an exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement for the search of a home. *Id.* at 1599-1600.²⁴

Although *Caniglia* held that the community caretaking exception does not extend to warrantless searches and seizures in the home, 141 S.Ct. at 1598-99, the Court nevertheless confirmed “that law enforcement officers may enter private property without a warrant when certain exigent circumstances exist, including the need to ‘render emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect an occupant from imminent injury.’ ” *Id.* at 1599 (quoting *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 460 (2011)). Each of three separate concurring opinions also emphasized this point. *See id.* at 1600 (Roberts, C.J., concurring) (“A warrant to enter a home is not required ... when there is a ‘need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury.’ Nothing in today’s opinion is to the contrary, and I join it on that basis”) (citation omitted) (quoting *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006)); *id.* at 1601 (Alito, J., concurring) (stating that “[w]hile there is no overarching ‘community caretaking’ doctrine, it does not follow that all searches and seizures conducted for non-law-enforcement purposes must be analyzed under precisely the same Fourth Amendment rules developed in criminal cases,” and finding that the case before the Court “falls within one important category of cases that could be viewed as involving community caretaking: conducting a search or seizure for the purpose of preventing a person from committing suicide”); *id.* at 1603-04 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring)

²⁴ Although the community caretaking and emergency aid exceptions “overlap conceptually, ... [they] are not the same” because “[t]he community caretaking doctrine requires a court to look at the *function* performed by a police officer, while the emergency exception requires an analysis of the *circumstances* to determine whether an emergency requiring immediate action existed. Thus, ... the doctrines have different ‘intellectual underpinning[s].’ ” *Hunsberger v. Wood*, 570 F.3d 546, 554 (4th Cir. 2009) (emphasis in original).

("[O]ne such recognized 'exigency' is the 'need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury.' The Fourth Amendment allows officers to enter a home if they have 'an objectively reasonable basis for believing' that such help is needed, and if the officers' actions inside the home are reasonable under the circumstances") (citation omitted) (quoting *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 403, 406).²⁵

While the State in this case argued and the trial judge found that Deputy Hale's welfare check was conducted as part of the community caretaking exception and the subsequent entry into the residence was based on an exigent circumstance, Respondent submits that the nomenclature used is unimportant and that all of his actions were justified under the emergency aid exception. As Justice Kavanaugh's concurrence in *Caniglia* recognized, "this Fourth Amendment issue is more labeling than substance." *Id.* at 1603 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring). Indeed, " 'the responsibility of police officers to search for missing persons ... and to aid the ill or injured has never been the subject of serious debate; nor has' the 'responsibility of police to provide services in an emergency.' " *Caniglia*, 141 S.Ct. at 1604 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring) (quoting *Livingston*, *supra*, at 302).

Thus, subsequent to *Caniglia*, many courts have continued to hold that the emergency aid doctrine provides an exception to the warrant requirement. See *State v. Abu Youm*, 988 N.W.2d 713, 720 (Iowa 2023) ("We conclude that *Caniglia* does not foreclose use of the emergency aid doctrine under the community caretaking exception to the warrant requirement under the Fourth Amendment"); *State v. Torres*, 989 N.W.2d 121, 129 (Iowa 2023) ("In *Abu Youm*, 988 N.W.2d at —, we explain how exigent circumstances may continue to justify a warrantless entry into a

²⁵ Further, it is important to note that neither the Supreme Court nor the First Circuit in *Caniglia* considered whether exigent circumstances justifying the warrantless entry existed because "respondents had forfeited the point." *Id.* at 1599.

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